1957

# Lorin Peck et ux. V. William Reed Judd et ux. : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Plaintiffs commenced this action to declare a forfeiture under a Uniform Real Estate Contract with the defendants, and for damages for unlawful detainer of the premises involved. The defendants alleged fraud in the original sale transaction under which the property was purchased.

The case came on for trial before the court while the defendants were in possession of the real property, and during the trial of the case a settlement was attempted which resulted in the trial being suspended and a stipulation settling the matter was attempted to be worked out.

The stipulation failed to materialize completely, however, possession of the entire premises, consisting of several rental units, was turned over to the plaintiff pursuant to the anticipated stipulation, and the defendants thereafter occupied only one of the rental units, while the plaintiffs took possession of and operated the balance of the rental units.

Thereafter, after the stipulation failed to settle the entire matter, the question of forfeiture and retention of the entire sums paid in by the defendants to the plaintiffs as liquidated damages pursuant to the contract was brought on for trial. It is from the judgment of the court enforcing the forfeiture and allowing retention by the plaintiffs of the entire monies paid in by the defendants together with the improvements on the property, that the defendants appeal. It is the defendants position that to declare a forfeiture under the facts is improper and unconscionable.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Defendants purchased certain real property, described in the complaint, from the plaintiffs under a

written Uniform Real Estate Contract dated October 25, 1950, agreeing to pay therefor the sum of \$75,000. Defendants made a down payment of \$10,700 and agreed to pay the sum of \$600.00 per month thereafter part at 4 per cent interest and part at 5 per cent interest, together with the taxes after 1950.

Although there was some question as to the actual crediting of certain payments made under the contract the undisputed fact is that defendants were unable to make their payments and were in arrears in their payments at the time suit was commenced.

It appears that the total amount paid by the defendants to plaintiffs, including the down payment, was \$36,933.82, which included the amount due from the defendants for taxes for the period they were in possession of the property.

The property involved consists of five separate buildings, all of which are divided into rental units. The buildings are old, and a good deal of repairs, improvements and maintenance were necessary, and the defendants performed a great deal of work and placed many improvements on the property.

The plaintiffs introduced evidence at the trial to establish the actual value of the premises at the present time as \$40,000.00 (Tr. 6) on cross examination plaintiff admitted that he had two other appraisals of the property both of which were sub-

stantially higher than the expert witness testified. Those appraisals were as follows \$61,700.00, and \$65,000.00 (Tr. 36, 37). The trial court found that the property was worth only \$40,000, and that consequently, when plaintiffs took the property back they suffered a loss of bargain of some \$35,000 (R. 102).

To arrive at the rental value of the property, in retrospect, and to establish that the plaintiffs had netted a fair return from their investment and more, the defendants sought to introduce evidence as to the improvements made by the defendants on the property, and their costs, and the costs of maintenance of the property and operation thereof. The court refused to allow this evidence to be introduced and sustaining objections thereto. The figures sought to be introduced are before the court in the form of an offer of proof. (Tr. Ex. 24, 25).

Those figures reveal that defendants spent \$15,845.33 on permanent type improvements during their occupancy of the premises, and \$20,529.59 on maintenance, with, however, a great deal of the labor charged having been performed by defendants.

During the period of occupancy by the defendants they took in a total rental of \$51,151.49, which includes the apartment occupied by them. (Tr. 78, 86, 87).



## **STATEMENT OF POINTS**

- I. The court erred in its ruling that the property has only a value of \$40,000.00.**
- II. The trial court erred in excluding defendants evidence as to improvements and maintenance costs.**
- III. The trial court erred in declaring a forfeiture and allowing the plaintiff to retain all of the monies paid in by the defendants as liquidated damages, without regard to the excluded evidence.**
- IV. If the contract is null and void as decreed by the court, then the trial court erred in not requiring a refund to the defendants of the monies paid in by the defendants on the contract.**
- V. The fact situation here involved did not justify forfeiture under the law of the State of Utah.**

## POINT I

**The court erred in its ruling that the property has only a value of \$40,000.**

The trial court found the value of the property to be only the sum of \$40,000. The evidence on this subject came from an expert called by the plaintiffs, and from the plaintiff, Lorin Peck. Mr. Ashton testified that by the use of one method of appraisal he arrived at \$40,000 (Tr. 44, 45) but that if in good shape it would be worth \$50,000 (Tr. 44), and also, that by figuring the property on the basis of the total valuation of the land and the buildings, that he arrived at a total value of \$54,863.00 (Tr. 50)

The expert acknowledged that he did not see or know the condition of the property a year earlier when the defendants were in possession of the property (Tr. 51) and that to a large measure his reduced figure was predicated upon the maintenance condition of the property at the time he saw it, after it had been back in the possession of the plaintiffs several months (Tr. 51)

Mr. Ashton further stated at page 52 of the transcript: "When you get down to putting it down to market value it would sell pretty close to \$40,000 to \$50,000," and that the fair and reasonable market value would be somewhere between those figures.

Mr. Peck the plaintiff, on cross examination admitted that he had Mr. Chapman, a realtor and the man who handled the Judd sale, appraise the property for him in December of 1956, which was the time the plaintiffs resumed operation of and possession of the property, and that Mr. Chapman appraised the property at \$61,700, at that time. (Tr. 75) Mr. Peck also admitted that Mr. Turner of Turner Realty Co. had appraised the property for him in November or December, 1956, and that his appraisal was \$65,000. (Tr. 76)

Either of the appraisals, that of Mr. Chapman, or that of Mr. Turner, were far above the figures given by Mr. Ashton, and both appraisals were made at the time the plaintiffs took the possession of the property back from the defendants, and not at a subsequent time when the plaintiffs had been in possession for some 15 months.

It is respectfully submitted, that the weight of evidence is definitely against the finding made by the trial court, and that the evidence establishes a value between \$61,700 and \$65,000 at the time when the value bears an important relation to the issues here involved, that is, December, 1955, when the plaintiffs took possession of the property back from the defendants.

The evidence of Mr. Ashton is remote in time he admitted an unfamiliarity with the property at

the time the possession passed from defendants to plaintiffs, and its condition at that time. This being the case, his evidence cannot be given the weight attributed to it in the face of the other appraisals.

Yet another reason exists, however, why the finding of a value of \$40,000 should not be allowed to stand. Mr. Ashton frankly admitted the market value was somewhere between \$40,000 and \$50,000, and by one method he arrived at a value in excess of \$54,000. It is completely erroneous to utilize the absolute minimum figure Mr. Ashton placed on the property as being the market value in view of his repudiation of it as a fixed figure, and it is equally erroneous to seize upon the lowest possible figure cited by him in view of the wide latitude he gave in his figure. That is, somewhere between \$40,000 and \$50,000. Such an estimate is not sufficiently close to justify the finding as made.

## **POINT II**

**The trial court erred in excluding defendants evidence  
as to improvements and maintenance costs.**

Defendants sought to introduce evidence as to the improvements placed upon the property herein involved, and to introduce evidence of the maintenance and operational costs both during the operation by the defendants and during the operation of the property by the plaintiffs.

On cross examination it was sought to be developed from the plaintiff, Mr. Peck, that his costs of operation had been compared to the income he received from the property. The purpose of this revenue of examination being to arrive at the net income from operation of the property to test this net income figure against the net income figure during defendants operation of the property to establish one of the important factors in a determination of whether the forfeiture here involved was unconscionable and exorbitant, that is, what was the property worth in producing revenue, since certainly the seller would be entitled to claim that amount as being a figure which bore a reasonable relation to the actual damages which could reasonably be anticipated at the time the contract was made. *Perkins vs. Spencer*, 121 Ut. 468, 243 P. 2d 446.

The trial court sustained an objection to this line of questioning (Tr. 29) and later when the same subject was attempted to be explored with the defendant Mr. Judd, similar objections were sustained (Tr. 51).

The basis of the court's ruling was apparently that the term "fair rental value" was an art phrase with a definite and clear meaning, and that the no evidence would be admissible which would reach the question of income produced by the property.

In this line of reasoning, the appellants earnestly assert that the trial court completely misconceived the holding of this court in the *Perkins vs. Spencer* case, supra, and has missed the entire spirit of that case, and, that further, he erred on the question of admissibility of evidence to prove "fair rental value."

First, a reading of the Utah cases upholding liquidated damages, as well as those wherein a penalty was found to exist, reveals, running throughout the cases the one basic proposition that, what is desired is that the injury sustained, if any, and the damages recovered therefor, bear a reasonable relation to each other. *Western Macaroni Mfg. Co. vs. Fiore*, 47 Utah 108, 151 P. 984; *Bramwell vs. Uggla*, 81 Utah 85, 16 P 2d 913, *Perkins vs. Spencer*, supra, and cases cited therein.

The evidence admissible in the individual case to establish the relationship of reasonableness or unreasonableness of the relationship of injury to the forfeiture amount, varied in those cases, and in the very nature of the problem will vary from case to case.

In the *Perkins vs. Spencer* case, which involved merely a single residence, it is obvious, that the rental value of the property provided a good, simple yard stick to determine what the loss occasioned to the plaintiff was in relation to the monthly payments which had been made.

In *Western Macaroni Mfg. Co. vs. Fiore*, 47 Utah 108, 151 P. 984, an entirely different basis was used, and in *Croft vs. Jensen* 86 Utah 13, 40 P. 2d 198, yet another type evidence was used; in *Malmberg vs. Baugh*, 62 Utah 331, 218 P. 975, the relatively short period of time of occupancy as compared to the amount paid by the defendant.

Without belaboring the point unduly, it appears that the trial court lost the spirit of the decisions and the rationale thereof in an attempt at technical application of a ruling to a fact situation which did not justify the ruling.

In the present case, the paramount determination as to what revenue the plaintiffs were entitled to anticipate from the property to serve as a yard stick of reasonableness, was not the rental value of individual apartments, but the net income which a rental property could and would reasonably be expected to produce, together with any other factors which would serve to aid the determination of other gains or losses to the plaintiffs upon retaking the property.

A detailed analysis of gross income and expenses is the only careful and practical way of arriving at the net income figure on the particular property, and this is what the defendants attempted to do, but were denied.

To carry the analysis one step further, it is quite apparent, that the evidence of cost of operations and net profits to be derived from the operation of the property by the defendants (see defendants offer of proof) would have produced a more favorable set of figures than did those of plaintiffs expert witness. See Point I herein. His figures concluded a 45 per cent net profit, whereas defendants figures as shown by exhibit 24, (offer of proof) would indicate something in excess of 50 per cent profit.

In this case the very nature of the property, its type, operation and upkeep problems made it imperative that the net income or revenue be used as the basic factor in determining whether the amount received by the plaintiffs from the defendants exceeded that which was reasonable. In refusing to allow this evidence to be introduced, it is earnestly submitted that the trial court erred seriously, and that the matter should be returned to the trial court for retrial, or for entry of judgment predicated upon defendants offers of proof.

Yet another reason illustrating the fact that the trial court erred in his ruling excluding evidence is apparent.

It is necessary to reconstruct in a case of this nature, since the parties were not contemplating a rental arrangement when they projected the agreement into being. Hence, in retrospect, the problem



is, "what is the best way to determine what a seller is entitled to expect from his property while in the hands of the buyer"? A synthetic situation has been created by reason of the lack of enforceability of the forfeiture provision, and therefore, it would seem that the interest of the court should be to consider that evidence which gives the most accurate forecast of these figures, rather than to try to fit a test to a particular case where it may not apply, as the court did in this instance.

However, assuming, but not conceding that the trial court was correct in concluding that "rental value" must be used as a test in this case, the appellants earnestly assert that the trial court still erred in his ruling.

Ultimately, the point which the term "rental value" is seeking to reach is the determination of the value of the use of the land, or as stated in *Nelson vs. Minneapolis & St. P. L. Ry. Co.*, 41 Minn. 42 N.W. 788;

"The term 'rental value' as applied to realty, is but another form of saying the value of the use of the land for any purpose for which adapted in the hands of a prudent and discreet occupant upon a judicious system of husbandry."

Nor does it appear that the only test in determining "rental value" is testimony of what the prop-

erty would rent for. The case of *Reeves vs. Romanes*, 132 Ark. 559, 201 S.W. 882 after indicating that rental value is to be ascertained by proof of what a property will rent for adds:

“ \* \* \* or by evidence of other facts from which the fair rental value may be determined.”

to like effect, see *Brewington vs. Laughran*, 183 N.C. 558, 112 S.E. 257.

The problem involved here might well be likened to the situation where a loss of profit from the interrogation of use of real property under a share crop arrangement, where uniformly the courts hold that the party is entitled to recover the value of the crops less the cost of raising, etc. *Rice vs. Whitmore*, 74 Cal. 619, 16 P. 501; *Colorado Nat. Bank vs. Ashcroft*, 83 Colo. 136, 263 P. 23; and *Rogers vs. McGuffey*, 96 Tex. 565, 74 S.W. 753.

It is earnestly asserted by the appellants that they were entitled under the theory of “other evidence from which the reasonable rental value can be determined,” to introduce the excluded evidence.

A review of the evidence sought to be introduced by the defendants (Ex. 24, 25, offer of proof Tr. 50, 55) at once reveals the disproportionate and excessive penalty being extracted from the defendants.

### POINT III

**The trial court erred in declaring a forfeiture and allowing the plaintiff to retain all of the monies paid in by the defendants as liquidated damages, without regard to the excluded evidence.**

Appellants re-assert their argument from Point II, that the evidence sought to be introduced by the defendants was proper, and that a consideration of it would result in the declaration that a penalty was imposed by the contract, rather than liquidated damages, but adds at this point the further argument, that the evidence, absent the excluded testimony, still requires the finding that a penalty was imposed rather than liquidated damages.

The record shows that a total revenue of \$51,151.49 was realized on the premises during the occupancy and operation thereof by the defendants. Mr. Ashton testified that the operating costs of property of this type was 50 per cent of the gross income (Tr. 43) and that after deducting vacancy charges the net income would be 45 per cent.

Applying this formula to the gross income figure, there would be realized a net return of \$23,018.17 on the property during the time it was in defendants possession. During that same period, the defendants paid to the plaintiffs the sum of

\$26,233.82. It is apparent, therefore, that the defendant paid to the plaintiffs everything that the property could reasonably realize during the period that they had the property, and by plaintiffs own expert witness the net to be recovered from the property potentially in whomsoever's hands it would be operating would be less than the payments made to the plaintiffs by the defendants by some \$3,215.65. Add to this the \$10,700.00 down payment, and the disparity is at once apparent.

To go even further, however, plaintiffs expert witness placed the net income from the property at \$3,500.00 per year (Tr. 44), based upon his investigations of similar properties and his information as to this property. This would make a total net of approximately \$18,100.00 which would be anticipated from this property for the period the defendants had the possession and operation thereof resulting in an even wider disparity between the yield of this property and the income received from it by the plaintiffs amounting to some \$8,133.00.

It is quite apparent, therefore, that the plaintiffs have been very handsomely repaid for the use the defendants have had of the property during the period they occupied and operated it, quite aside from the \$10,700.00 down payment made by the defendants.

Using the highest value estimated on the real

property at the time plaintiffs repossessed \$65,000.00 and the most favorable figures given by Mr. Ashton as to net profits from the property, (i.e.) \$3,500.00 per year (five years and two months) a total of \$18,100.00, together with the down payment, \$10,700.00, it is at once apparent that the plaintiffs have received much more than a reasonable return on the property, and much more than they would have realized had they operated the property themselves.

It is earnestly asserted by the appellants that the evidence clearly indicates that a penalty is here imposed under the facts in evidence and that it would constitute an extreme penalty to allow the plaintiffs to retain the \$36,933.82 paid to plaintiffs by the defendants, and also allow the plaintiffs to recover the property.

To allow such a result is to completely abrogate the principles laid down heretofore by this court several times, and more particularly in the case *Perkins vs. Spencer*, 121 Utah 468, 243 P. 2d 446, wherein the court said:

“ \* \* \* where enforcement of the forfeiture provision would allow an unconscionable and exorbitant recovery, bearing no reasonable relationship to the actual damages suffered, we have uniformly held it to be unenforceable.”

Certainly the recovery to the plaintiffs is so exorbitant and unconscionable bears no reasonable relationship to the damages suffered, and hence, the provision of the contract should be held to be unenforceable.

#### POINT IV

**If the contract is null and void as decreed by the court, then the trial court erred in not requiring a refund to the defendants of the monies paid in by the defendants on the contract.**

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