Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1958

Lorin Peck et ux. V. William Reed Judd et ux. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE SUSTAINS FINDING DEFENDANTS WERE IN DEFAULT, FORFEITURE WAS AGREEMENT OF PARTIES IN EVENT OF DEFAULT, LIQUIDATED DAMAGES IN AMOUNT AWARDED WAS PURSUANT TO CONTRACT, LIQUIDATED DAMAGES WERE NOT UNCONSCOUNABLE AND WERE IN FACT LESS THAN DEFENDANTS TOOK FROM PROPERTIES, AND FORFEITURE BASED ON ACTS OF DEFENDANTS AND JUSTIFIED UNDER LAW OF STATE OF UTAH.

Statement of Points 3 and 5 of defendants and Point I of Plaintiffs will be discussed in the following manner:

- a. Was the forfeiture of the rights in the property proper under the terms of the contract; and
- b. Was the allowing the plaintiff to retain all of the monies paid in by the defendants as liquidated damages, without regard to the excluded evidence, proper.

The provision of the contract relative to forfeiture and liquidated damages reads as follows:

"In the event of a failure to comply with the terms hereof the Buyer, upon failure to make any payments when the same shall become due, or within thirty days thereafter, the Seller shall, at his option, be released from all obligations in law and equity to convey said property and all payments which have been made theretofore on this contract by the Buyer, shall be forfeited to the Seller as liquidated damages for the non-performance of the contract, and the Buyer agrees that the Seller may, at his option, re-enter and take possession of said premises without legal process as in its first and former estate, together with all improvements and additions made by the Buyer thereon, and the said additions and improvements shall remain with the land and become the property of the Seller, the Buyer becoming at once a tenant at will of the Seller. It is agreed that time is the essence of this agreement." Exhibit 1.

a. It must be remembered that the plaintiffs took the properties over on December 1, 1955, with the full consent of the defendants except the apartment in which Judds were residing and continued to reside until March, 1956. There was no court order but a stipulation of settlement was in the offing and all that is in the record is that the plaintiffs took over the management of the

properties on December 1, 1955. The properties were turned back over to plaintiffs by defendants. The taking over and repossession was not over the protests of defendants but with their acquiescence.

No question has been or is being raised relative to the right of defendants to retain possession of the properties. The return of the property to the defendants is not being sought nor argued. The uncontroverted testimony of the plaintiff is that there was no desire on the part of the plaintiff to cause a forfeiture in the event plaintiff could but obtain his rights under the contract. Notice to reinstate the contract was given in March, 1955; two months later another notice of the termination of the contract and the declaration of the creation of a tenancy at will was served in May, 1955; and, in September, 1955, six months after the first notice at the time of the pretrial, the defendants were again advised that there was no desire to require a forfeiture and opportunity was given defendants to make plaintiffs whole and they would thereby become whole, then on November 30, 1955, two months after the pretrial and eight months after the initial notice, a hearing was commenced and the hearing was terminated to afford defendants every opportunity to salvage anything salvageable defendants might have in said contract and properties.

At the time the first notice was served on defendants to reinstate their contract, the defendants were some \$10,734.64 in arrears. Defendants knew that during the time defendants were defaulting, plaintiffs were required to keep in full force and effect plaintiffs contract to pur-

chase these same premises. Plaintiffs were really being damaged in having to maintain payments on their contract of purchase when defendants were defaulting on their contract.

In the early case of *Rose* v. *Garn*, 56 Utah 533, 191 Pac. 645, the Supreme Court, State of Utah, stated:

"No court has ever held that the parties may not agree between themselves as to the measure of damages that shall be sustained upon the breaching of a contract by either party."

It would seem that there could be no question of the right of the plaintiffs to re-enter and take possession of said premises when defendants were \$10,734.64 in arrears at the time of the giving of the notice to reinstate the contract and plaintiffs did not take possession until eight months later during which time defendants had the opportunity to salvage their interest in said properties; after defendants had collected some \$51,751.49 in rentals from said premises and had only paid to plaintiffs a total sum of \$36,787.56, including down payment, taxes, interest and principal; when the properties were "terribly run down" when the properties were taken over by plaintiffs in December, 1955, and when said properties "were in very good condition" when the same were sold to defendants according to the uncontroverted testimony of Mrs. Egan, the manager of said properties at the time of the sale and immediately following the return of the properties to Mr. Peck. There was simply no other way out as Mr. Ashton stated that the grounds "have been allowed to go helter skelter" and therefore "over a period of years they haven't obtained as much from rental as I indicated with my figures. But if it were propertly operated and the grounds fixed up" there would have been greater income. Plaintiffs could wait no longer and permit the premises to continue to degenerate and were compelled to retake the premises and this was done with the acquiescence of defendants.

b. This court has previously had the problem of considering whether the application of a liquidated damages clause in a contract is actually liquidated damages or a penalty. In the case of *Cooley* v. *Call*, 61 Utah 203, 211 P. 977, speaking through Justice Thurman, the court stated:

"It does seem to the writer that here was a candid deliberate attempt on the part of the contracting parties to fix and determine a measure of damages which should operate as an exclusive remedy in the event that the vendee should default in subsequent payments. If the damages stipulated in the contract were either inadequate or radically excessive, as compared with the probable damages that could be foreseen by the parties when the contract was executed, there might be some reason for contending that the damages stipulated were not intended as an exclusive remedy, but such was not the case, as appeared from the record. Upon the execution of the contract, November 25, 1919, defendants paid plaintiffs \$1,850. During the next year they paid one-half of the interest on a \$6,000 mortgage at 6 percent per annum amounting to \$180, and paid taxes on the property for the year 1920, which must have amounted to at least \$100. As to the exact amount the findings were indefinite. In any event the defendants paid taxes and interest in at least the sum of \$280, which added to the initial payment of \$1.850, gives a result of \$2,130. The final payment was to be made December 1, 1921, or within two years and five days from the execution of the contract. So that it could be readily foreseen by the parties to the contract at the time it was executed just what plaintiffs' damages would probably be when the last payment became due, even if defendants should default in every subsequent payment provided for by the contract. A simple mathematical calculation demonstrates that the \$1,850 paid by defendants amounted to at least 10 per cent per annum on the purchase price of the property, of which amount plaintiffs were absolutely assured because it was paid in advance. Can it be said in the light of these facts that the damages stipulated in the contract were so excessive, on the one hand, or so inadequate, on the other, that it could not have been intended as the amount of damages to which plaintiffs would be entitled in case defendants defaulted in subsequent payments? We think not."

Statement of Points No. 5 is that the fact situation here involved did not justify forfeiture under the law of the State of Utah.

What are the facts in the instant case? There was a down payment required of \$35,000.00 on the original listing which was reduced to the sum of \$10,700.00 under the contract actually made. There was a requirement of \$600.00 per month payment on the contract, plus taxes, or a total of \$7,200.00 per year plus the taxes which averaged about \$700.00 per year or less than \$8,000.00 per year on the contract. How much was collected by defendants as rentals during the five year period, which Mr. Ashton said could be increased with good operation and

management? The sum of \$51,151.49 was actually collected in rentals during the five year period, or a sum \$10,-230.29 annually, and the sum of \$852.52 was actually collected monthly as rentals on the average and the monthly payment due plaintiffs was the sum of \$600.00 plus the taxes. The difference between what defendants collected as rentals (\$51,151.49) and the amount paid plaintiffs (\$36,787.56 including taxes) is \$14,363.93. At the time defendants purchased said premises the contract prices was \$75,000.00, which was the fair market value as of that date because there was no force or pressure claimed. Mr. Ashton's testimony at the time of the trial was:

"***So my jdugment is that as of today the building in its present condition probably wouldn't be worth any more than about \$40,000.00." (Page 44)

and Mrs. Egan testified that: since she returned between the time that Mr. Peck retook the premises and when Mr. Ashton made his appraisal that:

"*** The property has been improving, other than the roof has been put on and Mr. Peck has put congoleum on. He has furnished paint for people for several places for them to do their decorating and fixing up their apartments." (Page 82)

And Mr. Peck testified that he had expended some \$4,000.00 since taking said premises back. (Page 77)

In the instant case, the monthly payments arranged and provided for by the contract from experience, even with poor management and permitting the property to become in a state of disrepair, were less than the amount to be paid on the contract and therefore were in no sense unconscionable and exorbitant. There was an average of more than \$250.00 per month cushion for expenses in operation. Certainly Peck could not be expected to assume the responsibility for the management and operation during the period Judds had said properties. There was no penalty in this case, as in the Western Macaroni Mfg. Co. v. Fiore, 47 Utah 108, 151 P. 984, but actually a surrender of less than defendants had collected on the premises as rentals was being forfeited. See the cases of Dopp v. Richards, 43 Utah 332, 135 P. 98, and Cooley v. Call, supra, wherein this court went into detail to determine if the liquidated damages were compensatory for the injury sustained or were penal in nature. In the instant case, the amount being collected monthly exceeded the amount he was required to pay on the contract. As stated in Bramwell Inv. Co. v. Uggla, 81 Utah 85, 16 P. 2d 913. Justice Elias Hansen speaking for the unanimous court stated:

"This court is committed to the doctrine that, where the parties to a contract stipulate the amount of liquidated damages that shall be paid in case of a breach, such stipulation is, as a general rule, enforceable, if the amount stipulated is not disproportionate to the damages actually sustained. A different rule applies where the amount stipulated is oppressive, unconscionable, or is in the nature of a penalty rather than damages actually sustained."

In the case of *Croft* v. *Jensen*, 86 Utah 13, 40 P. 2d 198, the Seller was tendered all the money due and owing

on the contract prior to the commencement of the suit, the amount being \$200.00 on a contract upon which \$6,500 had been paid. Of course, no forfeiture was granted. In the instant case, plaintiff at every step of the proceeding stated that plaintiffs did not desire a forfeiture but only what the contract called for and only asked for forfeiture because of the inability of defendants to perform. There was still some \$54,699.85 due and owing on the contract and had the property a marketable value as contended by defendants, defendants could have sold said properties during the many months after the notice to reinstate the contract and before judgment, as plaintiffs on the day of trial offered to withdraw the action if plaintiffs could be but made whole, paid off the balance on the contract and had an equity.

In the case at bar, the purchase price was \$75,000.00 and the balance due on the contract was \$54,699.85, (Exhibit 22) at the time of the trial, which means that approximately one-third of the purchase price had been paid on the principal. Justice Crockett, in alluding to the case of *Christy* v. *Guild*, 101 Utah 313, 121 P. 2d 401, written for the court by Justice McDonough, in *Perkins* v. *Spencer*, 121 Utah 468, 243 P. 2d 446, stated as follows:

"While they (Guilds) had paid in approximately one-third of the purchase price, they had paid only \$20 to \$30 each month over the period, plus making improvements on the premises totally \$2,000. But the property had a monthly income to them of \$75.00, which exceeded the total of the payments they had made plus their improvements. After reviewing those facts, it was held that the

forfeiture provision was not a penalty under the rule above stated."

Those facts are practically the same as in the instant case. One-third of the purchase price had been paid, approximately, and the amount collected from the premises as rentals was \$51,151.49, and there had only been paid on the contract \$36,787.56.

The Reinstatement of Contracts, 339, dealing with the question of forfeiture is cited in the brief of appellants and in said *Perkins* v. *Spencer*, supra, as stating as follows:

- "(1) An agreement, made in advance of breach fixing the damages therefor, is not enforceable as a contract and does not affect the damages recoverable for the breach, unless
 - (a) the amount so fixed is a reasonable forecast of just compensation for the harm that is caused by the breach, and
 - (b) the harm that is caused by the breach is one that is incapable or very difficult of accurate estimation."

Consider in the instant case that Judds were required to pay to Pecks under the contract the sum of \$600.00 per month, plus the taxes each year, and that Judds collected as rentals an average of \$852.52 per month. Is that not evidence that the liquidated damages were not intended as a penalty? Plaintiffs have no quarrel with the application of the restatement provisions to the instant case.

After reviewing the opinions of this court relative to the basis of damages ordinarily recoverable for a breach of contract or excluding "liquidated damages" which are in fact "penalties" for a breach, Justice Crockett set forth a rule which guided the trial court in the instant case and guided counsel in the litigation of the trial of the case. See *Perkins* v. *Spencer*, supra. This rule is as follows:

"The vendors are entitled to any loss occasioned them by any of these factors:

- (1) Loss of any advantageous bargain;
- (2) Any damage to or depreciation of the property;
- (3) Any decline in value due to change in market value of the property not allowed for in items no. 2 and 3; and
- (4) For the fair rental value of the property during the period of occupancy.

"The total of such sums should be deducted from the total amount paid in, plus any improvements for which it would be fair to allow recovery, and any remaining difference awarded to the plaintiffs."

Applying the rule set forth by this court to the instant case, the following considerations must be given:

- 1. Loss of an advantageous bargain. The price of sale or bargain was \$75,000.00. The Finding of the Court at the time it was returned was \$40,000.00.
- 2. Any damage to or depreciation of the property. Mr. Ashton, a certified appraiser testified:
 - "*** If I capitalized that at 7% I got \$50,000.00 and I figured that that would be obtainable from the property if it were kept in pretty good

shape. But in going through the property I found very serious conditions there. Some places where the roof was leaking badly and wasn't plastered down. Then I took occasion last Saturday to employ a man who is an expert painter that had been in business for 25 or 30 years and he checked it all over and he found it would cost \$11,000.00 to repaint the interior of the houses and the exterior so that made a serious situation. So my judgment is that as of today the building in its present condition probably wouldn't be worth more than about \$40,000.00." (Page 44)

"There were framed porches down there which were gone and the building has the appearance of no protection from fire. I find it probably needs a new furnace and there is probably \$1,000.00 expense there and then a lot of things I have discovered. The building in the back of 125 that has since been removed and the bricks still on the premises not removed." (Page 46)

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